



# GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS INVENTORY AND MANAGEMENT REPORT

### Carbon Reduce programme

Prepared in accordance with ISO 14064-1:2018 and the Technical Requirements of the Programme



### **Optimum Medical Solutions Limited**

Prepared by (lead author): Ian Wheeler Dated: 28 September 2023 Verification status: Limited

Measurement period: 01 October 2021 to 30 September 2022 Base year period: 01 October 2020 to 30 September 2021

Approved for release by:

Gareth Rimmington, Product Director



### DISCLAIMER

The template has been provided by Enviro-Mark Solutions Limited (trading as Toitū Envirocare). While every effort has been made to ensure the template is consistent with the requirements of ISO 14064-1:2018, Toitū Envirocare does not accept any responsibility whether in contract, tort, equity or otherwise for any action taken, or reliance placed on it, or for any error or omission from this report. The template should not be altered (i.e. the black text); doing so may invalidate the organisation's claim that its inventory is compliant with the ISO 14064-1:2018 standard.

This work shall not be used for the purpose of obtaining emissions units, allowances, or carbon credits from two or more different sources in relation to the same emissions reductions, or for the purpose of offering for sale carbon credits which have been previously sold.

The consolidation approach chosen for the greenhouse gas inventory should not be used to make decisions related to the application of employment or taxation law.

This report shall not be used to make public greenhouse gas assertions without independent verification and issue of an assurance statement by Toitū Envirocare.

### AVAILABILITY

Open dissemination to all public via our website

### REPORT STRUCTURE

The Inventory Summary contains a high-level summary of this year's results and from year 2 onwards a brief comparison to historical inventories.

Chapter 1, the Emissions Inventory Report, includes the inventory details and forms the measure step of the organisation's application for Programme certification. The inventory is a complete and accurate quantification of the amount of GHG emissions and removals that can be directly attributed to the organisation's operations within the declared boundary and scope for the specified reporting period. The inventory has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Programme<sup>1</sup>, which is based on the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (2004) and ISO 14064-1:2018 Specification with Guidance at the Organization Level for Quantification and Reporting of Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals<sup>2</sup>. Where relevant, the inventory is aligned with industry or sector best practice for emissions measurement and reporting.

Chapter 2, the reduction plan and progress report, forms the manage step part of the organisation's application for Programme certification.

See Appendix 1 and the related Spreadsheet for detailed emissions inventory results, including a breakdown of emissions by source and sink, emissions by greenhouse gas type, and non-biogenic and bio-genic emissions. Appendix 1 also contains detailed context on the inventory boundaries, inclusions and exclusions, calculation methodology, liabilities, and supplementary results.

This overall report provides emissions information that is of interest to most users but must be read in conjunction with the inventory workbook for covering all of the requirements of ISO 14064-1:2018.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Programme refers to the Toitū carbonreduce and the Toitū net carbonzero programmes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Throughout this document 'GHG Protocol' means the GHG Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard and 'ISO 14064-1:2018' means the international standard Specification with Guidance at the Organizational Level for Quantification and Reporting of Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals.



### CONTENTS

Disclaimer	2				
Availability	2				
Report Structure	2				
Contents	3				
Tables	4				
Figures	4				
Executive summary	5				
Chapter 1: Emissions Inventory Report	6				
1.1. Introduction	6				
1.2. Emissions inventory results	6				
1.2.1.Dual reporting of indirect emissions from purchased and generated energy1.3.Organisational context	9 9				
1.3.1. Organisation description	9				
1.3.2. Statement of intent					
1.3.3. Person responsible 1.3.4. Reporting period	11				
1.3.5.    Organisational boundary and consolidation approach					
1.3.6. Excluded business units					
Chapter 2: Emissions Management and Reduction Report	13				
2.1. Emissions reduction results	13				
2.2. Significant emissions sources	17				
2.3. Emissions reduction targets	17				
2.4. Emissions reduction projects	20				
2.5. Staff engagement	22				
2.6. Key performance indicators	23				
2.7. Monitoring and reporting	23				
Appendix 1: Detailed greenhouse gas inventory	24				
A1.1 Reporting boundaries	26				
A1.1.1 Emission source identification method and significance criteria	26				
A1.1.2 Included sources sinks and activity data management					
A1.1.3 Excluded emissions sources and sinks					
A1.2.1 Calculation methodology					
A1.2.2 Supplementary results					
A1.2.2.1 Carbon credits and offsets					
A1.2.2.2 Double counting and double offsetting					
Appendix 2: Significance criteria used					
vppendix 3: Certification mark use					
Appendix 4: References					
Appendix 5: Reporting index	35				



### TABLES

Table 1: Inventory summary5
Table 2: GHG emissions inventory summary for this measurement period6
Table 3. Dual reporting of indirect emissions from imported energy9
Table 4. Brief description of business units, sites and locations included in this emissions inventory
Table 5: Comparison of historical GHG inventories
Table 6. Performance against plan
Table 7. Emission reduction targets 19
Table 8. Projects to reduce emissions
Table 9. Projects to improve data quality
Table 10. Direct GHG emissions and removals, quantified separately for each applicable gas
Table 11. Non-biogenic, biogenic anthropogenic and biogenic non-anthropogenic CO2 emissions and removalsby category25
Table 12. GHG emissions activity data collection methods and inherent uncertainties and assumptions
Table 13. GHG emissions sources excluded from the inventory
Table 14. Significance criteria used for identifying inclusion of indirect emissions    32

### FIGURES

Figure 1: Emissions (tCO <sub>2</sub> e) by Category for this measurement period	5
Figure 2: GHG emissions (tonnes CO <sub>2</sub> e) by category	7
Figure 3: GHG emissions (tonnes CO2e) by business unit	8
Figure 4: Top 10 GHG emissions (tonnes $CO_2e$ ) by source	8
Figure 5: Organisational structure	12
Figure 6: Comparison of gross emissions by category between the reporting periods	14
Figure 7: Comparison of gross emissions by subcategory between the reporting periods	15
Figure 8: Comparison of gross emissions by business unit between the reporting periods	16



### EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This is the annual greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions inventory and management report for Optimum Medical Solutions Limited covering the measurement period 01 October 2021 to 30 September 2022.<sup>3</sup>

This report outlines our top emissions sources and includes descriptions of site-specific sustainability projects aimed at GHG emissions reduction.

Table 1: Inventory summary

Category (ISO 14064-1:2018)	Scopes (ISO 14064- 1:2006)	2021	2022		
Category 1: Direct emissions	Scope 1	41.20	45.80		
Category 2: Indirect emissions from imported energy (location-based method*)	Scope 2	8.61	16.25		
Category 3: Indirect emissions from transportation		3,117.10	804.82		
Category 4: Indirect emissions from products used by organisation	Scope 2 Scope 3	5.20	8.86		
Category 5: Indirect emissions associated with the use of products from the organisation		0.00	0.00		
Category 6: Indirect emissions from other sources	gory 6: Indirect emissions from other sources				
Total direct emissions		41.20	45.80		
Total indirect emissions*		3,130.90	829.94		
Total gross emissions*		3,172.10	875.73		
Category 1 direct removals		0.00	0.00		
Purchased emission reductions		0.00	0.00		
Total net emissions		3,172.10	875.73		

\*Emissions are reported using a location-based methodology. See section 1.2.1 for details.



Figure 1: Emissions (tCO<sub>2</sub>e) by Category for this measurement period

<sup>3</sup> Throughout this document "emissions" means "GHG emissions".



# CHAPTER 1: EMISSIONS INVENTORY REPORT

### 1.1. INTRODUCTION

This report is the annual greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions inventory and management report for Optimum Medical Solutions Limited.

The purpose of this report is to consolidate our annual greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and support emissions management. The continual maintenance of this report will allow annual comparative analyses on the activity of our emission sources. This process will form part of the overall company's emissions reduction strategy.

The inventory report and any GHG assertions are expected to be verified by a Programme-approved, third-party verifier. The level of assurance is reported in a separate Assurance Statement provided to the directors of the certification entity.

### 1.2. EMISSIONS INVENTORY RESULTS

Table 2: GHG emissions inventory summary for this measurement period

#### Measurement period: 01 October 2021 to 30 September 2022.

Category	Toitū carbon mandatory boundary (tCO <sub>2</sub> e)	Additional emissions (tCO <sub>2</sub> e)	Total emissions (tCO <sub>2</sub> e)
Category 1: Direct emissions	45.80 Average car Battery Electric Vehicle, Average car Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicle, Car Average (diesel), Car Average (petrol), Natural Gas	0.00	45.80
Category 2: Indirect emissions from imported energy (location-based method*)	16.25 Electricity UK (Generation) (2013 Methodology)	0.00	16.25
Category 3: Indirect emissions from transportation	760.27 Air travel international (econ), Air travel long haul (econ), Average car Battery Electric Vehicle, Car Average (diesel), Car Average (petrol), Freight Air travel long haul (average), Freight Road all trucks (average), Freight Shipping container (average)	44.56 Accommodation - Australia, Accommodation - Austria, Accommodation - Finland, Accommodation - France, Accommodation - Germany, Accommodation - Greece, Accommodation - Ireland, Accommodation - Italy, Accommodation - Portugal, Accommodation - South Africa, Accommodation - Turkey, Accommodation - United Arab Emirates, Accommodation - United Kingdom, Car Average (unknown fuel type)	804.82
Category 4: Indirect emissions from products used by organisation	3.08 Electricity UK (T&D losses) (2013 Methodology), Waste disposal Paper and board: board Closed- loop, Waste to landfill - office waste	5.79 Water supply, Water treatment, Waste disposal Mixed municipal waste	8.86
Category 5: Indirect emissions associated with the use of products from the organisation	0.00	0.00	0.00



Category	Toitū carbon mandatory boundary (tCO₂e)	Additional emissions (tCO <sub>2</sub> e)	Total emissions (tCO <sub>2</sub> e)
Category 6: Indirect emissions from other sources	0.00	0.00	0.00
Total direct emissions	45.80	0.00	45.80
Total indirect emissions*	779.59	50.35	829.94
Total gross emissions*	825.39	50.35	875.73
Category 1 direct removals	0.00	0.00	0.00
Purchased emission reductions	0.00	0.00	0.00
Total net emissions	825.39	50.35	875.73
Emissions intensity		Mandatory emissions	Total emissions
Operating revenue (g	ross tCO2e / £Millions)	52.26	55.45

\*Emissions are reported using a location-based methodology. See section 1.2.1 for details.



Figure 2: GHG emissions (tonnes CO<sub>2</sub>e) by category





Figure 3: GHG emissions (tonnes CO2e) by business unit







# 1.2.1. Dual reporting of indirect emissions from purchased and generated energy

All purchased and generated energy emissions are dual reported using both the location-based method and market-based method. Dual reporting illustrates the role of supplier choice, onsite renewable energy generation and contractual instruments in managing indirect emissions from energy alongside any ongoing energy efficiency and reduction efforts.

Optimum Medical Solutions Limited aligns to location-based reporting for tracking energy related emissions and reductions over time.

We have reviewed all of our utility supplies and engaged into renewable supply agreements at all sites. We have also worked with staff to identify most efficient use of heating systems to ensure comfort whilst still reducing overall energy use.

All gas and electricity meters have data loggers which has enabled us to analyse our use and direct our reduction strategies. For example having charge timers installed on warehouse plant to enable charging at periods of reduced demand on the national grid.

Category	Location-based methodology (tCO <sub>2</sub> e)	Market-based methodology (tCO2e)
Category 1: Direct emissions	45.80	45.80
Category 2: Indirect emissions from imported energy	16.25	28.00
Category 3: Indirect emissions from transportation	804.82	804.82
Category 4: Indirect emissions from products used by organisation	8.86	8.86
Category 5: Indirect emissions associated with the use of products from the organisation	0.00	0.00
Category 6: Indirect emissions from other sources	0.00	0.00
Total direct emissions	45.80	45.80
Total indirect emissions	829.94	841.69
Total gross emissions	875.73	887.49
Category 1 direct removals	0.00	0.00
Total net emissions	875.73	887.49

Table 3. Dual reporting of indirect emissions from imported energy

### 1.3. ORGANISATIONAL CONTEXT

### 1.3.1. Organisation description

Optimum Medical Solutions are specialists in lubrication and urology products. Our products are found in every NHS acute hospital, and we offer the UK's largest range of healthcare lubricants. Within the UK we supply products to over 300 Trusts, as well as to retail pharmacies, GP surgeries private hospitals and care homes. Internationally we export to more than 60 countries around the world, in Europe , North America, Africa, Asia and Australia.

Vyne is the Dispensing Appliance Contractor (Prescription delivery service) arm of Optimum Medical. Our mission is to supply customers with a better, greener and easier way of getting their healthcare appliances, whether this is via a prescription or a direct sale through our website. Vyne takes the hassle out of getting prescription items, we deal directly with the individuals GP, receiving the prescription and posting items directly to customers.



#### **Commitment to certification**

Over the years we've noticed a lack of attention in the healthcare industry towards sustainability. We felt we could do something about that – with even the smallest changes growing into great things.

We are committed to driving change in our sector, through measuring, managing and reducing our emissions and embracing new technologies to reinvent the way we carry out our business activities. We aim to exploit all opportunities for energy savings throughout the business, in order to establish ourselves as an environmentally responsible organisation, a sector leader as well as a contributor to national and industry carbon reduction targets.

#### **GHG Reporting**

Historically as a company we have always had ethical and responsible operating practices and goals. 'Sustainability conscious' is one of our company pledges. Measuring our GHG emissions is the starting point for us to pull together all of our environmental and social value activities and identifying targets for where we can have the biggest impact.

This report will also enable us to demonstrate our environmental commitments to our customers and to our supply chain whom we expect to mirror our own ambitions.

#### **Climate Change Impacts**

Climate change will impact the nature of our business operations in various ways including but not limited to:

\* Supply chain disruption. Through extreme weather events disrupting transportation systems and infrastructure

\* Increased costs. Of raw materials, energy and transportation

\* Regulatory changes. Governments worldwide are taking action to mitigate climate change and promote sustainability. Examples could be stricter emission standards, waste management regulations, requirements to use ecofriendly materials and taxation of non-recycled/recyclable materials.

\* Reputation and consumer demand. Consumers are increasingly concerned about climate change and sustainability. Companies that are perceived as not taking sufficient action to address climate-related issues may face reputational risks which can impact consumer trust and demand for our products

\* Business continuity risks. Climate change can pose risks to the overall business continuity of the company. For instance, the previously mentioned weather events could disrupt our ability to operate to full capacity, leading to financial losses and damage to infrastructure. Due to the location of our facilities this is a low level risk but is more likely to affect our supply chain.

**Parent Company Targets** 

No parent company associated with the business

#### 1.3.2. Statement of intent

This inventory forms part of the organisation's commitment to gain Toitū Carbon Reduce certification. The intended uses of this inventory are:

Intended use and users

This report will help us to:

- \* Gain compliance with the Toitū carbonreduce program
- \* Reduce emissions
- \* Respond to customer demands
- \* Respond to public expectations
- \* Contribute to staff culture
- \* Inform operational decisions



\* Contribute to brand value

Intended users of this report include, but are not limited to:

- \* Our Directors
- \* Our management team
- \* Our external 'carbonreduce' programme account auditors
- \* Our suppliers
- \* Our customers

**Other schemes and requirements** 

The inventory will be used to support PPN 06/21 submissions

#### 1.3.3. Person responsible

Ian Wheeler, Sustainability and Corporate Social Responsibility Manager is responsible for overall emission inventory measurement and reduction performance, as well as reporting results to top management. Ian Wheeler, Sustainability and Corporate Social Responsibility Manager has the authority to represent top management and has financial authority to authorise budget for the Programme, including Management projects and any Mitigation objectives.

#### State any other people/entities Programme

The reporting is supported by the Optimum Medical senior management team, who allocate appropriate resource for the collection of data and implementation of reduction strategies.

Operating as company CSR and Sustainability Manager and experience within Local Authorities

#### Top management commitment

The Optimum Medical Directors and senior management team are committed to long term measurement and reduction of the companies' emissions and will measure and record progress year on year.

The management team has committed to supporting development of a comprehensive emissions management plan, extended this year from year one and to continue to develop and expand our reporting capabilities moving forward.

Emissions measurement and management is to be reported directly to the directors on a half yearly basis, with progress reports on any associated reduction interventions. Summaries and verbal updates will be provided at senior management meetings following the director update.

#### **Management involvement**

Annual reporting will be provided to the senior management team. This group provides resources and budget for collection and processing of data and inventory report development.

The lead author of this report is provided with resource (financial and staff) from across the business, to ensure our inventory process is 'bedded in' to our long term procedures and culture.

#### 1.3.4. Reporting period

Base year measurement period: 01 October 2020 to 30 September 2021

The base year was selected as it is the earliest year in which we could gather accurate, reliable data. The Covid-19 pandemic started mid-way through this reporting period, so this did have impacts on our business practices, particularly around home working, staff travel (UK and overseas) and the methods of shipping used, this should be borne in mind when assessing against future reports, including this one.

Measurement period of this report: 01 October 2021 to 30 September 2022

Reporting will be done annually with progress reports mid-year.



This reporting year was selected as it follows on from our previous reporting period and is aligned to our financial reporting year. However, as our financial accounting year has recently moved (from an October to September period) to January to December we will be re-baselining and realigning with this reporting period from January 2023.

### 1.3.5. Organisational boundary and consolidation approach

An operational control consolidation approach was used to account for emissions.<sup>4</sup>

Organisational boundaries were set with reference to the methodology described in the GHG Protocol and ISO 14064-1:2018 standards.

#### Justification of consolidation approach

The operational control boundary approach was selected as it aligns with the way our business is structured. It enables us to focus carbon reduction in areas where we have full control, whilst still retaining the ability to engage with partner organisations where we do not have any control but can influence and support to improve their behaviours.

**Organisational structure** 

Figure 5 shows what has been included in the context of the overall structure.

The parts of the business structure below have been identified as being within this emissions inventory as we have full operational control over the business activities at the Leeds Head Office and Bradford Warehouse



Figure 5: Organisational structure

Table 4. Brief description of business units, sites and locations included in this emissions inventory

Company/Business unit/Facility	Physical location	Description
Optimum Medical	Tennant Hall, Blenheim Grove, Leeds, LS2 9ET	Company head office
Optidepot (Warehouse)	Unit 2, Thornbury Industrial park, Woodhall Road, Bradford, BD3 7AF	Company UK warehouse.

### 1.3.6. Excluded business units

No business units are excluded from the organisation boundary.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>control: the organisation accounts for all GHG emissions and/or removals from facilities over which it has financial or operational control. equity share: the organisation accounts for its portion of GHG emissions and/or removals from respective facilities.



# CHAPTER 2: EMISSIONS MANAGEMENT AND REDUCTION REPORT

### 2.1. EMISSIONS REDUCTION RESULTS

We have worked hard this year to identify and reduce our emissions, which is reflected in the greatly reduced overall emissions levels. This is mainly due to significantly reducing our use of air freight, which has seen a slight increase in sea freight emissions but a huge reduction in freight overall. Some of this reduction was due to changes made within the organisation, and the rest down to a reduction in urgent demand caused by the covid pandemic.

Elsewhere in the organisation use of gas / electricity and fuel has increased. This was expected for a number of reasons:

\* Staff have taken advantage of the EV salary sacrifice scheme and are charging at the office. This is a positive as they are transitioning from a higher emission form of travel to a low emission, but it does cause a significant increase in our overall electricity use at both sites. We will look into ways of being able to split out use of the use of EV chargers from the general building use so we can more clearly identify what is a positive use (charging electric vehicles) and hopefully reductions in other operational use.

\* The warehouse is far busier now than when it was in the last reporting period, meaning charging of plant has increased.

\* The last reporting period was during covid, so since then more 'business as usual' activities have recommenced, including sales team visits. This has increased company mileage significantly and means flights and hotel stays have recommenced and are included in the latest report.

\* We have identified a new heating system for the office, which will reduce the use of gas, but increase the use of electricity. We hope to have this installed in the next quarter.

In 2021/22 there has been a 12.29% increase in absolute emissions since base year (Scope 1 & 2) and an 11.22% increase in emissions intensity (tCO<sub>2</sub>e/£Mgdp) since base year (Scope 1, 2 & 3).

Table 5: Comparison of historical GHG inventories

Category	2021	2022
Category 1: Direct emissions	41.20	45.80
Category 2: Indirect emissions from imported energy (location-based method*)	8.61	16.25
Category 3: Indirect emissions from transportation	3,117.10	804.82
Category 4: Indirect emissions from products used by organisation	5.20	8.86
Category 5: Indirect emissions associated with the use of products from the organisation		0.00
Category 6: Indirect emissions from other sources	0.00	0.00
Total direct emissions	41.20	45.80



Category	2021	2022
Total indirect emissions*	3,130.90	829.94
Total gross emissions*	3,172.10	875.73
Category 1 direct removals	0.00	0.00
Purchased emission reductions	0.00	0.00
Total net emissions	3,172.10	875.73
Emissions intensity		
Operating revenue (gross tCO <sub>2</sub> e / £Millions)	218.77	55.45
Operating revenue (gross mandatory tCO <sub>2</sub> e / £Millions)	216.35	52.26

\*Emissions are reported using a location-based methodology. See section 1.2.1 for details.



Figure 6: Comparison of gross emissions by category between the reporting periods





Figure 7: Comparison of gross emissions by subcategory between the reporting periods





Figure 8: Comparison of gross emissions by business unit between the reporting periods

Table 6. Performance against plan

#### Performance

.

In 2021/22 there has been a 12.29% increase in absolute emissions since base year (Scope 1 & 2) and an 11.22% increase in emissions intensity (tCO<sub>2</sub>e/£Mgdp) since base year (Scope 1, 2 & 3).



### 2.2. SIGNIFICANT EMISSIONS SOURCES

#### Significant sources

Our top emissions sources are still Shipping/Freight; however this has reduced considerably and now is mainly Sea freight rather than air. Over the next 12 months We will review and engage with our carriers to identify where further reductions can be made. Our next largest emissions sources are business travel (road) and use of natural Gas.

#### Activities responsible for generating significant emissions

Freight covers the process of importing goods from manufacturers to our warehousing sites, and onward delivery to our customers. In our last report we stated that we believed the emissions level was very high, and that significant reductions could be achieved quite quickly. This has proven to be the case. If we continue to follow the principles utilised in the last 12 months then we should maintain this reduction, it will however be difficult to make such significant reductions moving forward. We hope to align with sustainably conscious freight forwarders and investigate the use of rail to transport containers from ports in the UK to our Warehouse, which will provide modest reductions.

Natural gas is the use of gas for heating of premises, as previously identified we hope to replace the gas heating system to a significant part of the Leeds office.

Staff travel is mainly from the sales and nursing teams visiting clients and supporting users of our products. Additionally staff travel includes remote workers travelling to our sites for face to face meetings / events etc and commuting by staff who work at the warehouse / office.

#### Influences over the activities

Freight is mainly influenced by the mode of travel, so air freight is the most emissions intensive, this is where significant reductions can be achieved. Freight is also clearly influenced by the volumes transported and location of the supplier and destination of the delivery. As the company grows, it is unfortunately inevitable in the short term that freight emissions will also increase. We will try to mitigate this through careful selection of distribution partners, and monitoring advances in sustainable shipping techniques.

Our use of natural gas is influenced by the efficiency of the heating equipment (boilers) the weather conditions and staff behaviour. During this current year (22-23) we have installed air source heat pumps to the majority of the main office, reducing our gas requirement significantly.

Staff travel is mainly influenced by choice of mode of travel, and also, in relation to road travel, vehicle choice and maintenance and driving style.

Significant sources that cannot be influenced

N/A

### 2.3. EMISSIONS REDUCTION TARGETS

The organisation is committed to managing and reducing its emissions in accordance with the Programme requirements. Table 7 provides details of the emission reduction targets to be implemented. These are 'SMART' targets (specific, measurable, achievable, realistic, and time-constrained).

Our targets are based on aligning our own ambitions with the expectations of our clients, staff and final consumers / service users

This second year report shows a huge drop against our baseline year, mainly due to reductions in urgent air freight required during the Covid pandemic (Indirect emissions from Transportation). In categories 1,2 and 4 there have been increases in emissions levels, largely attributed to recommencement of business as usual activities such as employee travel, and staff returning to the office rather than homeworking enforced during Covid.



In fact, category 2 emissions almost doubled - this is due to a combination of factors such as the new warehouse being fully utilised (it opened during the baseline reporting period) and getting busier since that time. As all the plant in the Warehouse is electric there is a direct correlation between how busy we are and how much the equipment such as fork lift trucks need charging and therefore how much power we use. We have also introduced an electric vehicle salary sacrifice scheme which has been utilised by a number of members of staff, who take the opportunity to make use of our free charging incentive for staff at work sites.

These reasons combined have seen an increase in power use, but for positive reasons (electrification rather than traditional fuels) seeing a move away from petrol/diesel in our staff commuting habits. Both of our sites are now on renewable power tariffs and we will investigate the potential for solar installations to reduce our reliance on grid energy.



Table 7. Emission reduction targets

Target name	Baseline period	Target date	Type of target (intensity or absolute)	Categories covered	Target	КРІ	Responsibility	Rationale
Reduction of Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions	2021	2027	Intensity	Category 1 and 2 combined	Ongoing reductions year on year	30%	lan Wheeler, CSR and Sustainability Manager	Reduction pathway to be developed.
Improve emissions data	2021	2024	Absolute	All categories	Continuously work to collect the highest quality, primary data on our emissions to aid in reduction and progress measurement. Particularly in the areas of staff travel, hotels, flights and freight, which are very manual. To introduce improved digital systems to improve the ease of reporting and automate data collection where possible	N/A	lan Wheeler, CSR and Sustainability Manager	Achievable through the application of the reduction projects discussed further below
Reduce Shipping / Freight associated Emissions	2021	2027	Intensity	Category 3	Review of freight emissions and potential savings. E.g. consolidation of shipments, removing void space, review of transport providers, create policy of preferential use of more sustainable options (Sea freight) wherever possible.	N/A	lan Wheeler, CSR and Sustainability Manager	Achievable through the application of the reduction projects discussed further below
Reduce emissions from staff travel	2021	2025	Absolute	Category 3	Improve staff awareness of travel options and impacts of their decisions, review current home working arrangements.	N/A	lan Wheeler, CSR and Sustainability Manager	Achievable through the application of the reduction projects discussed further below
Long term net zero target	2021	2045	Absolute	All categories	Long term net zero target, reduction of total emissions by 90% of baseline	N/A	lan Wheeler, CSR and Sustainability Manager	Achievable through the application of the reduction projects discussed further below



### 2.4. EMISSIONS REDUCTION PROJECTS

In order to achieve the reduction targets identified in Table 7, specific projects have been identified to achieve these targets, and are detailed in Table 8 below.

Table 8. Projects to reduce emissions

Objective	Project	Responsibility	Completion date	Potential co- benefits	Potential unintended consequences	Actions to minimise unintended consequence
Reduce shipping/freight emissions.	Review of freight options and transport providers, guidelines for preferential use of those options (Sea freight) wherever possible. Investigate use of rail for transfers from UK ports to OM Warehouse	Hayley Rogers, Customer Services Manager	31/12/2023	Reduce operating costs	Potential for late deliveries if process not managed efficiently and product purchased in sufficient quantities / time	Increase frequency of stock review, allocated warehousing sites to member of procurement team.
	Review of product packaging to reduce size, weight, void space and use of plastics.	Martha Wright, Product Manager	Ongoing	Reduce operating costs Reduced embodied emissions Reduced waste to landfill Reduced cost burden of plastic tax Increase product desirability to customers	Noncompliance with medical certification requirements Increased packaging production costs	Start with class 1 products and work towards class 3 products (requiring certification for any changes) over a longer and programmed timeframe. Look to remove, rather than replace packaging materials wherever possible
Reduce company wide use of natural gas	Review equipment used for heating (boilers) at all sites owned by us and ensure it is efficient and maintained effectively.	lan Wheeler, CSR and Sustainability Manager	31/12/2023	Reduce operating costs	Increase in use of electricity	Feasibility studies
Reduction in use of grid power	Feasibility study for solar at either, or both company sites.	lan Wheeler, CSR and Sustainability Manager	31/12/2023	Reduce operating costs	Repayments due to significant capital investment required	Investigate potential for solar power at either or both sites. Look to shared finance opportunities.
Reduce emissions from staff travel	Improve staff awareness of travel options and impacts of their decisions.	lan Wheeler, CSR and Sustainability Manager	31/12/2023	Reduce operating costs (vehicle maintenance)	Increase in overall travel costs e.g. train fare more expensive than car mileage.	Investigate options for discounted and easily administrated rail travel.



C	Dbjective	Project	Responsibility	Completion date	Potential co- benefits	Potential unintended consequences	Actions to minimise unintended consequence
		Investigate efficient driving awareness training for company drivers. Investigate introduction of a low emission vehicle purchasing policy. Reward staff who use low emission travel options, including low emission vehicles.			Safer driving techniques	Increase in administrative burden from arranging rail travel	
V re	Vaste to landfill eduction	Review existing waste agreements and move to sustainability conscious supplier with sound recycling credentials and practice.	lan Wheeler, CSR and Sustainability Manager	31/03/2023	Reduced costs (reduction in bin numbers) Improved reporting	none	



Table 9 highlights emission sources that have been identified for improving source the data quality in future inventories.

Table 9. Projects to improve data quality

Emissions source	Actions to improve data quality	Responsibility	Completion date
Staff travel	* Project extended after software procured cancelled due to data concerns * People and Culture are procuring a new staff HR system which has capability for expense handling. This will include hotels, flights, use of taxi's, rail, mileage claims - all with customisable fields so all the data we require is mandatory and instantly reportable.	Lisa Holmes, People and Culture Manager	30/06/2024
Emissions from Shipping/Freight	* Project extended to build on improvements already made * Further improve outbound shipping data, continue to increase data in NetSuite through inclusion of popular competitor products (e.g. weights of products) Work with IT to investigate improved automation of freight data.	lan Wheeler, CSR and Sustainability Manager	30/06/2024
Use of Gas and Electricity	Review Envisij energy management portal data to ensure accurate against billing so it can be used to populate eManage in future.	Ian Wheeler, CSR and Sustainability Manager	30/06/2024

### 2.5. STAFF ENGAGEMENT

At Optimum Medical we take our commitment to sustainability seriously. It's not just a hollow promise; it's deeply embedded in our DNA. Our workforce is not only aware of the importance of sustainability but also highly motivated to make a difference. They actively contribute by sharing ideas and suggestions for improvement.

To ensure everyone is on the same page, we provide regular updates on our sustainability initiatives through various channels:

Firstly, we have our company newsletters. These newsletters are a treasure trove of information, featuring updates on our progress, initiatives, and goals. It's our way of keeping everyone in the loop and sharing the exciting steps we're taking toward a greener future.

Additionally, we publish annual reports that focus on our commitment to reducing emissions. These reports showcase the tangible progress we've made and highlight the goals we've set for ourselves. It's a moment for us to celebrate our achievements and maintain our momentum.

We also leverage our intranet platform, which serves as a vital tool for internal communication. Through the intranet, we regularly share updates and relevant materials related to our emissions reduction efforts. This ensures that our staff can conveniently access this information and stay well-informed. By promoting continuous engagement, we foster a sense of shared responsibility and a culture of sustainability within our organization.

Moreover, our dedication to sustainability starts right from the beginning. When new employees join our team, we integrate our emissions reduction commitments into their onboarding process. During this time, we introduce them to our sustainability objectives and emphasize our commitment to reducing emissions. As part of their training, all staff members participate in environmental awareness e-learning. This comprehensive approach ensures that sustainability becomes an integral part of our collective mindset.

Through these various approaches, we raise awareness and promote understanding of our emissions reduction commitments among our valued team members. Effective communication, thorough training, and integration into the onboarding process help engage employees at all levels and nurture a culture of sustainability throughout our organization.



We firmly believe that the active involvement of our staff is essential in achieving our sustainability goals. Together, we can make a meaningful difference and create a brighter, greener future for all.

### 2.6. KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

As per scheme, absolute emissions and emissions intensity

### 2.7. MONITORING AND REPORTING

Quarterly monitoring will be carried out and reported to the senior management team. The monitoring will include collation of data and (data permitting) benchmarking against target, and previous years. Managers of the activities will be responsible for providing the data to the CSR and Sustainability Manager, who will be responsible for its upload into emanage. formal reporting will take place twice annually, with informal updates quarterly.



# APPENDIX 1: DETAILED GREENHOUSE GAS INVENTORY

Additional inventory details are disclosed in the tables below, and further GHG emissions data is available on the accompanying spreadsheet to this report (Appendix1-Data Summary Optimum Medical Solutions Limited.xls).

Table 10. Direct GHG emissions and removals, quantified separately for each applicable gas

.

Category	CO2	CH₄	N <sub>2</sub> O	NF <sub>3</sub>	SF <sub>6</sub>	HFC	PFC	Desflurane	Sevoflurane	Isoflurane	Emissions total (tCO <sub>2</sub> e)
Stationary combustion	25.98	0.04	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	26.03
Mobile combustion (incl. company owned or leased vehicles)	19.64	0.03	0.10	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	19.77
Emissions - Industrial processes	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Removals - Industrial processes	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Leakage of refrigerants	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Treatment of waste	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Treatment of wastewater	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Emissions - Land use, land-use change and forestry	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Removals - Land use, land-use change and forestry	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Fertiliser use	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Addition of livestock waste to soils	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Addition of crop residue to soils	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Addition of lime to soils	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Enteric fermentation	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Open burning of organic matter	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Electricity generated and consumed onsite	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Medical gases	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Exported electricity	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Total net emissions	45.62	0.06	0.12	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	45.80



Table 11. Non-biogenic, biogenic anthropogenic and biogenic non-anthropogenic CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and removals by category

Category	Anthropogenic biogenic CO <sub>2</sub> emissions	Anthropogenic biogenic (CH <sub>4</sub> and N <sub>2</sub> O) emissions (tCO <sub>2</sub> e)	Non-anthropogenic biogenic (tCO <sub>2</sub> e)
Category 1: Direct emissions	0.00	0.00	0.00
Category 2: Indirect emissions from imported energy	0.00	0.00	0.00
Category 3: Indirect emissions from transportation	0.00	0.00	0.00
Category 4: Indirect emissions from products used by organisation	0.00	1.51	0.00
Category 5: Indirect emissions associated with the use of products from the organisation	0.00	0.00	0.00
Category 6: Indirect emissions from other sources	0.00	0.00	0.00
Total gross emissions	0.00	1.51	0.00



### A1.1 REPORTING BOUNDARIES

### A1.1.1 Emission source identification method and significance criteria

The GHG emissions sources included in this inventory are those required for Programme certification and were identified with reference to the methodology described in the GHG Protocol and ISO 14064-1:2018 standards as well as the Programme Technical Requirements.

Personal communications with all Senior Managers and Directors, a review of expenditure, review of assets and site walkarounds.

Significance of emissions sources within the organisational boundaries has been considered in the design of this inventory. The significance criteria used comprise:

- All direct emissions sources that contribute more than 1% of total Category 1 and 2 emissions
- All indirect emissions sources that are required by the Programme

No changes to the significance criteria have been made since this inventory was initially developed in the base year.

### A1.1.2 Included sources sinks and activity data management

As adapted from ISO 14064-1, the emissions sources deemed significant for inclusion in this inventory were classified into the following categories:

- Direct GHG emissions (Category 1): GHG emissions from sources that are owned or controlled by the company.
- Indirect GHG emissions (Category 2): GHG emissions from the generation of purchased electricity, heat and steam consumed by the company.
- Indirect GHG emissions (Categories 3-6): GHG emissions that occur as a consequence of the activities of the company but occur from sources not owned or controlled by the company.

Table 12 provides detail on the categories of emissions included in the GHG emissions inventory, an overview of how activity data were collected for each emissions source, and an explanation of any uncertainties or assumptions made based on the source of activity data. Detail on estimated numerical uncertainties are reported in Appendix 1.

All data is gathered centrally by CSR and Sustainability Manager via accounts interaction. The methodology applied for data review is currently being documented.



Table 12. GHG emissions activity data collection methods and inherent uncertainties and assumptions

GHG emissions category	GHG emissions source or sink subcategory	Overview of activity data and evidence	Explanation of uncertainties or assumptions around your data and evidence	Use of default and average emissions factors	Pre- verified data
Category 1: Direct emissions and removals	Stationary combustion	Natural Gas	As we didn't have data for the reporting period have assumed it would be similar to the subsequent year, which we have accurate metered data for.	We did not have manual meter reads for this period and the office electricity and Warehouse Gas meters were not smart	N/A
	Mobile combustion (incl. company owned or leased vehicles)	Average car Battery Electric Vehicle, Average car Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicle, Car Average (diesel), Car Average (petrol)	Assumed all employee mileage expense claims have been completed accurately and none have been missed.	We do not collect data on litres of fuel used, staff use their vehicles for personal as well as work purposes, so this is not practice.	N/A
Overall assessment of uncertainty for Category 1 emissions and removals		7%	Medium		
Category 2: Indirect emissions from imported energy	Imported electricity	Electricity UK (Generation) (2013 Methodology)	All data is from smart meter readings so assume that meters are accurate and invoices issued by utility company are accurate	Not all of our meters are smart, the gas meter at the warehouse has to have manual readings submitted, meaning the date in the month the reads are taken is not always the same, neither is the time the reads are taken.	N/A
Overall assessment of uncertainty for Category 2 emissions and removals		3%	Low		
Category 3: Indirect emissions from transportation	Business travel - Transport (non- company owned vehicles)	Average car Battery Electric Vehicle, Car Average (diesel), Car Average (petrol), Air travel international (econ), Air travel long haul (econ)	Assumed all employee mileage expense claims are accurate and none have been missed. Assume data provided on vehicles mileage undertaken in is accurate.	Miles travelled is the only data we have as staff use their vehicles for personal use, so calculating emissions by volumes of fuel used is not practice	N/A



GHG emissions category	GHG emissions source or sink subcategory	Overview of activity data and evidence	Explanation of uncertainties or assumptions around your data and evidence	Use of default and average emissions factors	Pre- verified data
			Assumed all employee flight entries are accurate and that air travel km distances provided by Toitū flight calculator tool is accurate.		
	Business travel - Accommodation	Accommodation - Australia, Accommodation - Austria, Accommodation - Finland, Accommodation - France, Accommodation - Germany, Accommodation - Greece, Accommodation - Ireland, Accommodation - Italy, Accommodation - Portugal, Accommodation - South Africa, Accommodation - Turkey, Accommodation - United Arab Emirates, Accommodation - United Kingdom	Assumed all employee hotel entries are accurate (location and number of nights. There is a higher level of uncertainty in UK hotel data due to the increased number booked and the lack of any travel booking system. Also the fact that 'nights' are not recorded on UK bookings, so estimates were made as to number of nights based on price.		N/A
	Upstream freight - Paid by the organisation	Freight Air travel long haul (average), Freight Road all trucks (average), Freight Shipping container (average)	Assumed that our procurement teams shipping schedule is accurate and not missing any shipments. Assume that dates and shipment weights are accurate and no keying errors.		N/A
	Downstream freight - Paid by the organisation	Freight Air travel long haul (average), Freight Road all trucks (average), Freight Shipping container (average)	Assume that the data in NetSuite is correct. There is a greater degree of uncertainty than inbound freight as we do not have weights for all products in NetSuite yet so outbound shipping weights can be inaccurate. Also, we use google maps to determine distance, which may not be the route the delivery driver actually took.		N/A
	Employee commuting	Car Average (unknown fuel type)	Assume that staff commuting habits are the same as they were when the study was conducted 18 months ago. There is a degree of uncertainty here as we do not have records of employee's personal cars, so an 'average car' emission factor was used.	We do not have the required level of detail on staff commuting to use any other emissions factor.	N/A



GHG emissions category	GHG emissions source or sink subcategory	Overview of activity data and evidence	Explanation of uncertainties or assumptions around your data and evidence	Use of default and average emissions factors	Pre- verified data
Overall assessment of uncertainty for Category 3 emissions and removals		11%	Medium		
Category 4: Indirect emissions from products used by organisation	Disposal of solid waste - Landfilled	Waste disposal Paper and board: board Closed- loop, Waste to landfill - office waste	Assumed that all this waste is disposed of at landfill - this may not be the case. All Warehouse (non-recyclable) waste is sent for energy recovery processes, this may be the case with some of the waste from the office. Also assume that the weights provided by the carriers are accurate and their equipment calibrated.		N/A
	Disposal of solid waste - Not landfilled	Waste disposal Mixed municipal waste			N/A
	Disposal of liquid waste - Not wastewater	Water treatment			N/A
	Transmission of energy (T&D losses)	Electricity UK (T&D losses) (2013 Methodology)			N/A
Overall assessment of uncertainty for Category 4 emissions and removals		13%	Medium		



### A1.1.3 Excluded emissions sources and sinks

#### Emissions sources in Table 13 have been identified and excluded from this inventory.

Table 13. GHG emissions sources excluded from the inventory

Business unit	GHG emissions source or sink	GHG emissions category	Reason for exclusion
Optimum Medical - Tennant Hall	Emissions from working at home	Category 3	No data at this time

# A1.2 QUANTIFIED INVENTORY OF EMISSIONS AND REMOVALS

### A1.2.1 Calculation methodology

A calculation methodology has been used for quantifying the emissions inventory based on the following calculation approach, unless otherwise stated below:

#### Emissions = activity data x emissions factor

The quantification approach(es) has not changed since the previous measurement period

All emissions were calculated using Toitū emanage with emissions factors and Global Warming Potentials provided by the Programme (see Appendix 1 - data summary.xls). Global Warming Potentials (GWP) from the IPCC fifth assessment report (AR5) are the preferred GWP conversion<sup>5</sup>.

There are systems and procedures in place that will ensure applied quantification methodologies will continue in future GHG emissions inventories.

### A1.2.2 Supplementary results

Holdings and transactions in GHG-related financial or contractual instruments such as permits, allowances, verified offsets or other purchased emissions reductions from eligible schemes recognised by the Programme are reported separately here.

#### A1.2.2.1 CARBON CREDITS AND OFFSETS

No offsets have been purchased for this reporting period

Reason for purchase

N/A

#### A1.2.2.2 DOUBLE COUNTING AND DOUBLE OFFSETTING

There are various definitions of double counting or double offsetting. For this report, it refers to:

- Parts of the organisation have been prior offset.
- The same emissions sources have been reported (and offset) in both an organisational inventory and product footprint.
- Emissions have been included and potentially offset in the GHG emissions inventories of two different organisations, e.g. a company and one of its suppliers/contractors. This is particularly relevant to indirect (Categories 2 and 3) emissions sources.
- Programme approved 'pre-offset' products or services that contribute to the organisation inventory
- The organisation generates renewable electricity, uses or exports the electricity and claims the carbon benefits.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> If emission factors have been derived from recognised publications approved by the programme, which still use earlier GWPs, the emission factors have not been altered from as published.



• Emissions reductions are counted as removals in an organisation's GHG emissions inventory and are counted or used as offsets/carbon credits by another organisation.

Double counting / double offsetting has not been included in this inventory.

Details

We have a number of initiatives to offset emissions in different business activities.

\* Our waste contractor for the warehouse is carbon neutral, however our waste totals are included in our reporting.

\* We use delivery partners who are carbon neutral or industry leading in terms of sustainable practice.

\* We pay a set amount per order for any order made through our online shop to offset the delivery emissions (Shopify Planet)

\* We use Ecology to plant a tree for each order placed through our ecommerce site.

\* We are awaiting our current energy supplier (since June 2022) to provide REGO certificates for the period June - September 2022.



# APPENDIX 2: SIGNIFICANCE CRITERIA USED

Table 14. Significance criteria used for identifying inclusion of indirect emissions

Emission source	Magnitude	Level of influence	Risk or opportunity	Sector specific guidance	Outsourced	Employee engagement	Intended Use and Users	Include in inventory?
Freight Air travel long haul (average)	Yes	Yes	Opportunity	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Freight Shipping container (average)	Yes	Yes	Opportunity	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Freight Road all trucks (average)	Yes	Yes	Opportunity	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Car Average (unknown fuel type)	Yes	Yes	Opportunity	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Car Average (unknown fuel type) Commuting	Yes	Yes	Opportunity	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Waste disposal Mixed municipal waste	Yes	Yes	Opportunity	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Car Average (petrol)	Yes	Yes	Opportunity	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Waste to landfill	Yes	Yes	Opportunity	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Electricity UK (T&D losses) (2013 Methodology)	Yes	Yes	Opportunity	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Water supply	Yes	Yes	Opportunity	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Water treatment	Yes	Yes	Opportunity	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes

**Community Confidential** 



# APPENDIX 3: CERTIFICATION MARK USE

We include the certification mark on the Carbon Reduction Plan we are required to publish on our website for our NHS contracts, and internal communications and updates relating to the accreditation.

We also intend to use this in company social media updates.



## **APPENDIX 4: REFERENCES**

International Organization for Standardization, 2018. ISO 14064-1:2018. Greenhouse gases – Part 1: Specification with guidance at the organization level for quantification and reporting of greenhouse gas emissions and removals. ISO: Geneva, Switzerland.

World Resources Institute and World Business Council for Sustainable Development, 2004 (revised). The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard. WBCSD: Geneva, Switzerland.

World Resources Institute and World Business Council for Sustainable Development, 2015 (revised). The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: Scope 2 Guidance. An amendment to the GHG Protocol Corporate Standard. WBCSD: Geneva, Switzerland.



## APPENDIX 5: REPORTING INDEX

This report template aligns with ISO 14064-1:2018 and meet Toitū Carbon Reduce programme Organisation Technical Requirements. The following table cross references the requirements against the relevant section(s) of this report.

Section of this report	ISO 14064-1:2018 clause	Organisational Technical Requirement rule
Cover page	9.3.1 b, c, r 9.3.2 d,	TR8.2, TR8.3
Availability	9.2 g	
Chapter 1: Emissions Inventory Report		
1.1. Introduction	9.3.2 a	
<u>1.2.</u> Emissions inventory results	9.3.1 f, h, j 9.3.3	TR4.14, TR4.16, TR4.17
1.3. Organisational context	9.3.1 a	
1.3.1. Organisation description	9.3.1 a	
1.3.2. Statement of intent		TR4.2
1.3.3. Person responsible	9.3.1 b	
1.3.4. Reporting period	9.3.1	TR5.1, TR5.8
1.3.5. Organisational boundary and consolidation approach	9.3.1.d	TR4.3, TR4.5, TR4.7, TR4.11
1.3.6. Excluded business units		
Chapter 2: Emissions Management and Reduction Report		
2.1. Emissions reduction results	9.3.1 f, h, j, k 9.3.2 j, k	TR4.14, TR6.18
2.2. Significant emissions sources		
2.3. Emissions reduction targets		TR6.1, TR6.2, TR6.4, TR6.6, TR6.8,
2.4. Emissions reduction projects	9.3.2 b	TR6.8, TR6.11, TR6.12, TR6.13, TR6.14, TR6.15
2.5. Staff engagement		TR6.1, TR6.9
2.6. Key performance indicators		TR6.19
2.7. Monitoring and reporting	9.3.2 h	TR6.2
Appendix 1: Detailed greenhouse gas inventory	9.3.1 f, g	TR4.9, TR4.15
A1.1 Reporting boundaries		
A1.1.1 Emission source identification method and significance criteria	9.3.1 e	TR4.12, TR4.13
A1.1.2 Included emissions sources and activity data collection	9.3.1 p, q 9.3.2 i	TR5.4, TR5.6, TR5.17, TR5.18,
A1.1.3 Excluded emissions sources and sinks	9.3.1 i	TR5.21, TR5.22, TR5.23
A1.2 Quantified inventory of emissions and removals		
A1.2.1 Calculation methodology	9.3.1 m, n, o, t	
A1.2.2 Historical recalculations		
A1.2.3 GHG Storage and Liabilities		
A1.2.3.1 GHG stocks held on site		TR4.18
A1.2.3.2 Land-use liabilities	9.3.3.	TR4.19
A1.2.4 Supplementary results		
A1.2.4.1 Carbon credits and offsets	9.3.3.3	



Section of this report	ISO 14064-1:2018 clause	Organisational Technical Requirement rule
A1.2.4.2 Purchased or developed reduction or removal enhancement projects	9.3.2 c	
A1.2.4.3 Double counting and double offsetting		
Appendix 2: Significance criteria used	9.3.1.e	TR4.12
Appendix 3: Certification mark use		TR3.6
Appendix 4: References		
Appendix 5: Reporting index		